
MEMORANDUM

TO: Cape Elizabeth Town Council
FROM: Maureen O’Meara, Town Planner
DATE: July 23, 2021

SUBJECT: Town Center Affordable Housing Amendments
Supplemental information

Introduction

Additional information has been requested about the proposed amendments to the Town
Center District to facilitate affordable housing. This memo has been structured to facilitate an
individual review of the four amendments requested.

Density

The amendment would increase density from 3,000 sq. ft. of land per unit to 1,500 sq. ft. of
land per unit. The proposed density increase would only be available for low-income affordable
housing projects with at least 36 units.

•The developer has stated that 49 units are needed in order to build the affordable housing
project with the funding subsidies and financing plan.

•Maine State Housing Authority Government Relations Director Eric Jorgensen stated at the
June 22, 2021 Town Council workshop that Dunham Court is typical of recent affordable housing
projects built in southern main with 40-50 units in one building.

•Increased density can have a positive impact on municipal costs by reducing the per unit cost
of municipal infrastructure maintenance of roads, utilities and service delivery. Higher Density
Myth and Fact

Building Footprint
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The maximum building footprint requirement was one of several standards to promote a
”village” scale to new development. Multiple buildings may be constructed on a lot and a
“connector” may be constructed to link multiple buildings. A connector can be multiple stories
and include lobby, stairs and elevator, but must respect the intent as a connector. The 10 Hill
Way property (below left) is an example of how the total mass of building on the site has been
divided into two buildings linked by a connector.

10 Hill Way - 2 buildings with connector Dunham Court

The Dunham Court project (image above right) consists of two 4,800 sq. ft. building rectangles
(outlined in orange) and a connector (shown in green). While the orange areas meet the
maximum building footprint requirement, the connector portion also includes apartments, a
community room and gym overlooking the village green. The architectural design, which steps
back the connector from the building face and uses a lighter exterior finish, tries to respect the
concept of the building/connector relationship, but the connector portion of the building must
be considered part of the building footprint under the ordinance.
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There have been questions about how the Dunham Court building footprint compares to
existing buildings. The Building Footprint comparison chart (below) provides a comparison with
selected buildings, including a selection of Town Center buildings, the Inn by the Sea, Woodland
Condominium and three of the largest single family homes located in the RA and RC Districts.
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Building Height

The building height limit for all districts is 35’. The Town Center Zone height limit was
established in 1995. With the exception of the Shoreland Zone and the BA District, all other
district height limits were added to the Zoning Ordinance in 1997. Prior to that date, height was
constrained by the building code. Structures taller than 35’ are subject to more restrictive
requirements.

5



The Dunham Court project is proposed to be 44’ 3 ½” to accommodate a fourth floor that
increases the total units in the building to 49. The Town Hall height is estimated at 37’, and at a
ground elevation 6’ higher than Dunham Court.

Non-residential uses

The amendment would remove the first floor, non-residential use requirement for
approximately 5-6 lots in the Town Center District.

•Preserve commercial capacity. The first floor, non-residential use requirement was part of the
creation of the Town Center Zoning District. Prior to adoption of the Town Center Zoning in
1995, this area was known to locals as “the strip.” The zoning reflected classic, strip commercial
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development where residential uses were not allowed. The 1993 Town Center Plan, and
subsequent adoption of the 1995 Town Center Zone, represented a reimagining of this area into
a village functioning as the prime commercial area, but also encouraging a mixing with
residential uses. Multifamily housing was made a permitted use in the Town Center, but limited
to mixed used buildings to preserve commercial capacity. From the 2019 Comprehensive Plan,
“The current TC zoning limits residential uses in mixed use buildings to upper floors in order to
preserve capacity for business uses in the town center.” (emphasis added)

•Commercial viability. When evaluating commercial uses in the Town Center, the 1993 Town
Plan noted “The question remains whether a suburban town of less than 9,000 people can
support a small-scale commercial center.” The 2014 Town Center Plan committee considered,
but ultimately did not choose to do a market feasibility analysis for the Town Center.
Commercial space construction in the town center is often subsidized by the residential units
included on upper floors. In the case of affordable housing, this subsidy is not available because
residential units are not generating revenue at market value.

•Vacancies. It has been noted that commercial space in the town center is prone to chronic
vacancies. The Boulos Company annually collects real estate data and provides a market
forecast. Because the data is not collected in relation to a specific project, it is a relatively
objective assessment of market conditions. The information below is from the 2021 Greater
Portland Market Outlook prepared by the Boulos Company.

The Cape Elizabeth Town Center is too small to be included in the report as a suburban
submarket. The chart does include a category for "all suburban markets" which might provide
some insight into how commercial space in the Town Center will compete.

The report notes that existing leased space may be offered to sublease (gray space) in the short
term, so actual vacancy rates may be higher. As a reference, The Portland downtown market
typically absorbs 40,000+ sq. ft. of space annually and there is 270,000+ sq. ft. available now,
plus gray space.

7

https://boulos.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/TBC2002_MarketOutlook_2021_21M-WEB.pdf
https://boulos.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/TBC2002_MarketOutlook_2021_21M-WEB.pdf


The report provides the following trend assessment.

8



TIF
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Tax Increment Financing (TIF) has been requested for Dunham Court. This is not part of the
zoning amendment request, and is subject to Town Council approval. Comments regarding the
TIF have been made, so a summary follows.

A TIF sets a base year of value, in this case of the Town Center TIF 2014, and taxes generated
from an increase in value over the base year are segregated into a separate fund. The value
increase is also sheltered from inclusion in state formulas to calculate school funding, etc so the
Town “keeps” more of the tax revenue increase. The Town Center Zoning District currently has a
downtown TIF. The TC TIF is limited to funding sidewalk and stormwater improvements. The
Town benefitted from excellent timing in establishing the TIF just as 4 major properties were
offered for sale. (New owners typically make improvements that increase the value of property).
Proceeds from the TC TIF are earmarked as the cash match for grant funds to construct sidewalk
segments 7 and 8. (TIF funds are not used to pay for sidewalk and stormwater infrastructure
that are required as part of development review.)

The Dunham Court TIF would be limited to lots 3 and 4.  These lots are currently valued at
$382,400, and at a mill rate of $19.92, generate $7,617 in property tax revenue this year. The
proposed development is estimated to increase the property value to $4 million. At the current
mill rate, that will generate $79,600 in property taxes. With a 50% TIF, the town will still retain
$39,840. After 30 years, 100% of tax revenue would be retained by the town.

Parking

Dunham Court has also requested that the town enter into a shared parking agreement. The
project would construct 34 new parking spaces at the rear of the town hall parking lot. The
town would retain ownership of the land, and use the parking spaces. Like the TIF, the parking
agreement needs Town Council approval and is not part of the zoning amendment request.
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